
1 
 

Part 1 : 1883 ï Beatriceôs first recorded visit to North 

Wales  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Having recently moved from Exeter to Chester, the close proximity to North Wales led to the first of a 

number of visits to the area by Beatrice and Annie, with Beatrice seemingly visiting on her own in 

April 1883. 
1
  

 

The economic growth and technological advances of the Victorian era had made it possible for the 

bridging of the Menai Strait separating Anglesey from the mainland thus achieving a more efficient 

connection between London and Ireland via rail to the Holyhead-Dublin ferry service. The completion 

of this rail line (in 1850) improved accessibility to the attractions of the North Wales coastline and 

mountain scenery which were already catering to a growing leisure market.  

 

Beatricesôs visit produced a record of what she observed along the relatively narrow strip of land 

between Conwy and Bangor. Backed by Snowdonia and separated from Anglesey by the Menai Strait, 

this was an area that had experienced a great deal of the layered pre-history and recorded history of 

Wales and, more particularly, of North Wales.  

 

Given its landform, location and natural resources, it would have served both as an important Celtic 

refuge and a strategic asset to all attacking forces throughout the centuries.  

 

                                                           
1
 The total reliance on the contents of the available albums results in a great many assumptions having to be 

made regarding the sistersô whereabouts at any one time. While there is much evidence of their having sketched 

in the south of England and in Chester prior to April 1883, there is no evidence indicating where Annie was in 

1883. She did, however, record a few sketches of this portion of Gwynedd in 1891 ï whereas there are none 

from Beatrice in that year. As explained in the Introduction, because of the mixed-up nature of the contents of 

the albums, an attempt is made to cluster the sketches according to place rather than time ï hence the inclusion 

of Annieôs sketches alongside those of Beatrice relating to this area. 
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Before the Romans invaded the area some two thousand years ago, the Celts had already occupied the 

land for some three or four centuries but, long before that, Early, Middle and Late Stone Age peoples 

had left evidence of their presence spanning almost a quarter of a million years.  

 

As the stronghold of the Celts, the area suffered the Roman invasion and its four centuries of 

occupation only to be followed by centuries of conflict with the peoples of England resulting in the 

building of Offaôs Dyke in the eighth century. Viking attacks in the ninth and tenth centuries were 

then followed by the Norman invasion in the eleventh century.  

 

After a long period of both internal and external conflict, Wales experienced a state of relative 

stability and unity during the first half of the thirteenth century which was primarily due to the 

leadership role played by óLlywelyn the Greatô and his grandson óLlywelyn the Lastô.  

 

The latter part of the thirteenth century was marked by King Edward Iôs invasion of Wales and the 

building and re-building of his ring of castles throughout North Wales including Anglesey.  

 

Following the growing resentment by the Welsh against the English throughout the fourteenth 

century, Owain GlendȐrôs rebellion during the first fifteen years of the fifteenth century saw the 

short-lived revival of the Welsh sense of unity and nationhood. With the failure of the rebellion, 

Englandôs domination of Wales was complete and the sixteenth century saw Henry VIII passing the 

Act of Union (formally tying Wales to England), imposing English as the official language of Wales 

and outlawing the Roman Catholic Church with the result that all the monasteries were destroyed.   

 

During the seventeenth century, much of the fighting between the English Crown and Parliamentary 

forces (under Cromwell) took place in Wales due to the strategic nature of its various castles ï a 

number of which suffered severe damage.  

 

The second half of the eighteenth century was a time of industrial development with large-scale 

mining being accompanied by extensive road, bridge and canal construction together with the rapid 

growth of commerce and trade.  

 

Aided by improved means of travel, the scenic and recreational attributes of North Wales (together 

with its historic places of interest) gave rise to an influx of tourists ï helped by the publication of 

Thomas Pennantôs Tours in Wales (1778) and Journey to Snowdon (1783).  

 

Importantly, the above also led to some of Britainôs finest watercolourists (Turner, Girtin, the Varley 

brothers, Cotman and Cox) visiting the area and recording its scenic beauty.
2
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
2
 All the above was sourced from : 

Ross, David, Wales ς History of a Nation, Geddes & Grosset, Scotland 2005 (as detailed in the Historic 
Background) and Wilton, Andrew, British Watercolours 1750-1850 Phaidon Press Ltd, Oxford, 1977 
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Great Orme from Penmaenmawr  

19 April 1883 (B) 

The Great Orme headland, off Llandudno, 

comprises a huge chunk of limestone that has 

conservation status because of its rich natural 

environment and, most importantly, its history.  

At the time Beatrice painted this, she would not 

have known that the headland was the site of the 

largest prehistoric mine (so far discovered in the 

world) as the tunnels were only uncovered 

during landscaping works in 1987.  

From available evidence, Archaeologists have estimated that the underground tunnels date back 4 000 

years to the Bronze Age ï about the same time that Stonehenge was being built. The copper mining 

took place over approximately a thousand years before being abandoned.
3
   

A significant detail in the picture is the smoke trail emanating from the steam train. 

Penmaenmawr 20 April 1883 (B) ï (this being the name of both the mountain and the village)  

The long pier was used to transport quarried rock 

to ships delivering the material even as far as to 

Europe.  While this took place during the 1900ôs, 

the use of the rock material dates back two or 

three thousand years as evidenced by the polished 

stone axe-heads found in the area. Even older, are 

the stone circles found on the mountain which 

date back to Neolithic times ï some five thousand 

years ago.
4
 

 

While Beatrice may have known of the existence 

of the remnants of a stone-age hill fort on the top of the mountain, it has since ceased to exist because 

of intensive quarrying undertaken during WWII.  

 

Penrhyn Castle from Llanfairfechen Station 19
th
 April 1883 (B) 

The Station was opened in 1860; it being on the Chester to Holyhead line which had opened in 1848. 

The towers of Penrhyn Castle are in the middle 

distance with Anglesey in the far distance.  Barely 

visible, is the Garth Pier seen stretching out into the 

Menai Strait. It was only opened in 1896 so must 

have been under construction when painted by 

Beatrice thirteen years earlier.
5
 

 

 

                                                           
3 Conwy County Borough Council ï visit Llandudno 
4
 Morris p249, theeyepenmaenmawr.org website 

5
 Wikipedia 
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Bangor and Penrhyn 18
th
  Sept 1891 (A) 

Penrhyn Castle sits amongst its large wooded 

estate with Bangor over to the left and looking 

across the Menai Strait towards Anglesey.  

The building was constructed (between 1822-

1837) in the form of a Norman castle. It was built 

by the Pennant family with proceeds from the slate 

industry.  

The castle was seen to represent the huge gap that 

existed between thehh workers and the wealthy landowners/industrialists. 

Lord Penrhyn (as the head of the Pennant family had now become) refused to recognise, let alone 

negotiate with, the union formed by the quarrymen in 1896. After an initial lockout of a year, work 

was resumed but then, in 1900, a three-year lockout took place resulting in much hardship and 

bitterness. The political impact of the lockout was also profound ï in the general election of 1906, the 

Liberal party won all but one of the thirty-four 

Welsh seats; the one going to Labour. 

Competing providers of slate and alternative forms 

of roofing resulted in the drastic weakening of what 

had been the worldôs largest slate quarry. Penrhyn 

Castle finally ceased to exist as a family domain in 

1951 and was taken over by the National Trust.
6
  

Penrhyn Sept 14
th
  1891 (A) 

 

From Aber 19
th
 April 1883 (B) 

Abergwyngregyn (known locally as Aber) is a tiny village located between the Menai Strait and the 

foothills of Snowdonia and is well-known for the nearby Aber Falls. The area has great historic 

importance as it served as the strategic crossing point of the Menai Strait to Anglesey and much 

evidence still exists of occupation from prehistoric times through to the Roman period.  

Beatrice may have been acquainted with its history and, particularly, the traditional conviction that 

this had been the ópalaceô of Llywelyn ap Gruffudd, the first and last prince of a ófreeô Wales who 

died in 1282.
7
 However, given the above vista ï well 

above the village, her attraction to the area might 

possibly have been to simply visit the nearby 

waterfall which was visit ed and painted by Annie 

eight years later. (See over page)  

Whatever the purpose of Beatriceôs visit in 1883, she 

would most certainly have been interested to learn 

                                                           
6 Ross p206, nationaltrust.org website 
7
 Morris p67/8, Wikipedia 
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that one-hundred and thirty-one years later the Former Plaid Cymry Member of Parliament would 

describe the site as ña place that holds the soul of the nationò and that the presenter of the BBC 

programme ñHistory of Walesò would declare that ñit is 

probably the most important site in the history of Wales.ò
8
  

The reasons for these statements were that archival 

documentation had been discovered which proved that either 

the property Pen y Bryn or the adjacent site was indeed the 

location of Llywelanôs so-called ópalaceô Aber Garth Celyn. 

Differences of opinion seem to exist regarding the exact 

position of the medieval buildings but there is now general 

acceptance that this is the location from which Llywelynôs 

letter of defiance to the English was written and which then 

ultimately sparked Edward Iôs construction of his óringô of 

castles and taking on himself (as the first óoutsiderô) the title 

of Prince of Wales.
9
  

 

Aber falls from the hills 13 Sep 1891 (A)  

 

Conway Castle from Penmaen Bach Hill April 

20 1883 (B) 

Now known as Conwy Castle, it formed part of 

the second wave of Edward Iôs castle-building 

during the thirteenth century. The monastery of 

Aberconwy was moved stone by stone to make 

way for the castle at Conwy. 

As with some of the other castles, a walled 

settlement was established outside the castle ï 

following the pattern of the French bastide 

towns. Conwy remains one of the best examples of a walled town in Europe.
10

  

The castle had become run down and severely damaged by the seventeenth century but the town walls 

and its towers are still intact. The suspension bridge stretching over the Conwy River to Llandudno 

Junction was designed by Thomas Telford and completed in 1826. Together with his bridge over the 

Menai Strait, they were amongst the first-ever suspension road bridges built. It carried vehicular 

traffic for well over a hundred years until being replaced by a new road bridge ï and is now restricted 

to vehicular traffic.
11

  

                                                           
8 Daily Post 2 September 2014 : Wendy Jones 
9 The Telegraph : BBC history team solves riddle of  Llywelyn : 31 January 2006 Ben Fenton 
10

 Morris p307 
11

 Ibid., p304/5 
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Conway Castle from Llandudno Junction Sept 30 1884 (B) 

The railway bridge connecting Llandudno 

Junction to Conwy was designed by 

Robert Stephenson and completed in 

1848. As with his railway bridge over the 

Menai Strait (completed two years later), 

it was a tubular construction and was the 

first of its kind.  The bridge itself is not 

visible in the depiction alongside but its 

near-side end is marked by the openings 

in the tower which was designed (with 

mock arrow slits) to be visually 

compatible with the castle. The tower 

immediately behind it marks the far-side of the bridge.
12

  

 

Conway Castle from Degenway June 

1888 (B) 

 

Looking from north-east to south-west 

with the rail/road crossing to the left and 

Carneddau mountains in the far distance. 

Conwy Castle had been the subject of 

many well-known artists such as Turner, 

Girtin and John Varley. 
13

 

 

 

 

Plas Mawr Conway June 5 1888 (B) 

 

By late in the sixteenth century, the 

wealthiest landowners and merchants were 

building large manor houses with glazed 

windows, decorative plasterwork and 

ornamentation.  

Plas Mawr was built between1576 and 

1585 and is considered to be the finest 

intact Elizabethan townhouse in Britain.
14

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
12

 Morris p304 
13

 Tate.org website, Kauffmann, Stainton 
14

 Ross pp 139/140 



7 
 

 

 

Bangor from steamer ñMenaiò Sept 17 1887 

(B)  

 

(It is unfortunate that the details of the 

buildings of this, the oldest ci ty in Wales, are 

not more clearly evident in the painting) 

 

 

 

Menai Bridge from Bangor April 21 1883 (B)     

Menai Bridge is a small town on Anglesey ï named after the celebrated suspension bridge. Located at 

the closest crossing point to the mainland, the site is believed to have been inhabited for thousands of 

years as evidenced by the finding of stone axes dating back to the Neolithic Period together with 

artefacts from the Bronze Age.  

Thomas Telfordôs suspension bridge and Robert 

Stephensonôs railway bridge are off to the left 

of this view of the Menai Strait. Before they 

were built, the only way to reach Anglesey was 

by ferry. The invasion by the Romans in AD59 

was supposedly by means of rafts and 

swimming their horses across. 
15

 

 

Menai Bridges April 24? 1883 (?B) 
16

 

This view of the two bridges appears to be from the Anglesey side looking towards Menai Bridge 

town with Telfordôs suspension bridge (completed 1826) in the front and Stephensonôs tubular 

railway bridge (completed 1850) behind it. 

The suspension bridge exists today exactly as 

built and indicated here except it now only 

carries pedestrians.  

The tubular bridge was partially destroyed by a 

fire in 1970 and was restructured to now carry 

the main London to Holyhead roadway on top 

of the railway deck.
17

  

                                                           
15

 Morris p304, Menai Bridge Community Heritage Trust 
16 This was a loose sketch and is assumed to have been done by Beatrice rather than Annie ς the exact date 

being difficult to decipher 

 
17

 As above 
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Bangor Cathedral April 21 1883 (B) 

Dating back to the days of the Celtic Christianity in the sixth century, the original religious house was 

founded by St Deiniol. The building suffered destruction by the Normans in the eleventh century, by 

King John in thirteenth century, by Edward I later in the same century and finally during Owen 

GlendȐrôs rebellion in the fifteenth century.  

Restoration and rebuilding took place after each destructive episode and the existing cathedral was 

finally completed in 1866. 18 

The dominance in Wales of the English in all matters, including religion, and the extent to which the 

Established Church had distanced itself from the people 

was exemplified by the fact that  between 1714 and 

1870 not a single Welsh-speaking bishop was appointed 

to the cathedrals in Wales. Benjamin Hoadley, the 

Bishop of Bangor at that time, apparently never set foot 

in Wales. 
19

  

A year after Beatriceôs visit to Bangor in 1883, the 

University College of North Wales was opened ï in the 

Penrhyn Arms Hotel which had been leased from the 

Penrhyn Estate. It was later to become Bangor 

University.
20

 

The establishment of the University would have pleased 

Owain GlendȐr ï even if it was four hundred years after 

the establishment of universities in north and south 

Wales had been his stated wish during his rebellion to 

secure Wales as a separate and unified nation in the 

fifteenth century. At the time, Oxford University had 

already been in existence for some three-hundred years 

and many Welsh students studying at Oxford had left 

their studies to join the rebellion.
21

  

 

Yew avenue Llandegai Church Sept 11
th
 1891 (A) 

St Tegaiôs is a village church built for the Penrhyn Estate workers 

in the fourteenth century. St Tegaiôs original place of worship was 

on a nearby site and had been established in the sixth century.  

The village of LLandegai was built as a model village in the 

eighteen hundreds. It falls just outside Penrhyn Park and is nearby 

Bangor.
22

  

                                                           
18

 Britainexpress.com., David Ross editor  
19

 Morris p107 and Encyclopaedia Britannica 
20

 Bangor.ac.uk website 
21

 Ross p116 
22

 Church in Wales 
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Part 2 : 1885 First visit together 

1885 saw the first of a number of a number of trips 

Beatrice and Annie took together and which are 

recorded by the sketches they made. 

They were then living in the Kingôs Buildings, Chester 

as stated in the front of their respective albums.  

Beatrice was 29 and Annie, 23.                                     

Beatrice had been in Oxford during May - with 

sketches of Maudlin (Magdalen) Tower and New 

College. There is no record of where Annie had been 

or what sheôd been doing in the two years before 1885 

- her last sketches in 1882 being of Dartmoor on the 

12
th
 September and a very rough undated pencil sketch 

of the Kingôs Buildings, Chester. These are found in 

her album notated Wonford Hill, Exeter March, 1882.  

The first sketches in Annieôs 1885 album are undated 

ones of the Cloisters, Chester and of the bridge at Llangollen.  

Having presumably arrived by rail from Chester via 

Llangollen, the adjoining sketch is that of Dollgelly 

(Dollgellau) Station by Annie on the 8
th
 September 1885. 

This is followed by the first instance of the two of them 

having painted the same subject matter in Wales.
23

 

The rail link from Chester via Llangollen to Dollgellau had 

been established in the 1860ôs and would have been a highly 

sought-after means of travelling across mid-Wales to the western coastline with its scenic landscape 

and historic attractions.
24

  

 

 

 

 

 

S&W on sandhills Barmouth Sept 10. 85 (Bôs on the left, Aôs on the right) 

                                                           
23

 This is the only record indicating that their brothers (Sidney and Wilfred) accompanied them on this trip. 
24 With the diminishing demand for rail as opposed to road travel and sparked by the flooding of Dollgellau Station and 

other parts of the route in 1964, the rail link was closed down the next year ï almost a hundred years after its completion. 

(John Rutter : Llangollen Railway Archive and History Website 2007) 
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From Arthog Station Sept 10
th
 1885 (A) ï (closed since 1965) 

Looking north-eastwards across the Afon Mawddach, the mountain backdrop to this stretch of 

coastline is scenically wild and steeped in the history and the legends of the Welsh. With glaciated 

Cader Idris prominently displayed, these mountains formed the subject of many unfinished sketches 

by both Beatrice and Annie. They clearly spent much of their time both walking and recording their 

closely observed surroundings. An imposing waterfall was sketched by both of them. 

The coastline with views of Barmouth also 

featured in their incomplete sketches as did the 

view (alongside ï by A) looking towards Harlech 

Castle with the Snowdonia mountains behind.  

After crossing over the Barmouth Rail Bridge 

(completed in 1867), they visited the St Mary and 

St Bodfan Church at Llanaber. Built in the early 

thirteenth century, it is considered to be one of the 

finest examples of Early English Gothic 

architecture in Wales.
25

  

 

L lanaber N. Wales 

 Sept 12
th
 1885 (A) 

 

 

 

 

        Harlech 

        Sept. 14
th
 1885 (A) 

 

                                                           
25

 Gwynedd Council 
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Harlech Castle was the southern-most of Edward Iôs ring of castles. It was completed in 1289 and (as 

can be seen by the previous sketch) its size and location present a formidable bearing on the 

landscape. It made for a good stronghold which is exactly why it has experienced some of the major 

historic events of Wales. 

Five years after its completion, it (together with other castles) was attacked by Madog ap Llywelynôs 

rebel army. The uprising was effectively put an end to in the following year by Edwardôs English 

army. 

Just over a hundred yearsô later, in 1403, the castle was taken over by Owain GlyndȐrô This being 

part of the fifteen year period in which (for the only time) a sense of Welsh nationhood seemed 

possible. He is considered to have been the only true Prince of Wales.  

Harlech Castle (B) 

This was GlyndȐrôs  headquarters - where his parliament 

was once held and from where his alliance with France was 

forged. This alliance was not only aligned to military aid but 

also involved negotiations with Pope Benedict III to 

establish an archdiocese in Wales independent of 

Canterbury. It was where his dreams of two universities ï 

one in the south and one in the north were formulated.   

Even with the fall of the castle to the forces of Henry IV in 

1408, GlyndȐr continued his guerrilla resistance over the 

next five years. In 1415 he refused an offer of pardon from 

Henry V and is believed to have lived out his life in quiet 

seclusion with his daughter and her husband ï an 

Englishman. 

 

In 1647 the Castle was the last royalist defence to fall to 

Cromwellôs Parliamentary forces in the Civil War against 

King Charles I.
26

  

Harlech Castle Sept 14
th
 1885 (A) 

The castle was understandably the subject of paintings by 

many artists ï among the best known being Turner, Cox and 

John Varley.
27 

                                                           
26 Ross pp 110-116 
27

 Kauffman 
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   Caerdeon Church Sept 15
th

 1885 (B) 

This church was also sketched by Annie ï from the same 

perspective. At the time of these sketches, this church had 

been in existence for only twenty-odd years.  

Having experienced the six-hundred year-old Llanaber 

Church, this building must have seemed somewhat of an 

oddity. 

St Philipôs Church (Caerdeon Chapel) was established as a 

private chapel by the owner of the Caerdion estate who 

objected to the fact that the services at LLanaber were only 

conducted in Welsh. It was designed along the lines of 

Pyrenean buildings and (other than the building material 

used) was completely alien to the feel of Welsh building.  

Its services were conducted in English and this led to the 

owner being taken to court by the Rector of Llanaber ï the 

upshot being the passing of the English Services in Wales Act of 1863 by the House of Lords. This 

Act meant that English Services could be provided if ten or more parishioners requested them ï thus 

modifying the previous requirement that services in predominantly Welsh districts were to be held in 

Welsh.
28

  

Caerdeon is also known for the fact that Charles Darwin spent his summer holidays (both from school 

and university) in the area and its environment must have had some influence on his developing 

interests as a naturalist.
29

  

The Origin of Species had been published in 1859 and it would seem unlikely that the sisters would 

not have been aware of its importance in generating the conflict between orthodox religion and 

scientific thought. 

What he (Darwin) wasnôt to know was that (in 1964) the oldest surviving life-form ï an organism 

Kakabekia barghoorniana ï was to be found just a few miles away near Harlech. It was declared to 

have been in existence for 2000 million years.
30

  

To what extent the above matters (other than the above discovery) occupied the thoughts and 

conversations of Beatrice and Annie while sitting sketching is not known. However, the history of 

Harlech Castle would almost certainly have been familiar to them ï although it possibly might not  

have occurred to them that the very next day (16
th
 September) it would have been 485 years to the day 

that Owain Glyndwr was declared by his followers, to be the Prince of Wales. 

 

                                                           
28 (N Vousden RCAHMW 2012 Coflein) 

29 (David Barnes : The Companion Guide to Wales 2005) 

30 (Morris p25) 
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Dolgelly (Dolgellau) Sept 16
th
 

1885 (A) 

This bridge (over the Wnion) 

dates back to 1638.  

Dolgellau was an important 

market town not only because of 

its confluence of travel routes 

from the north, south and east but 

also because of its being the centre 

of the wool industry. It was the 

southern gateway to the mountains 

of Snowdonia, close to the seaside 

and displayed a particularly high 

concentration of well-conserved buildings.  

Its attraction to ótouristsô dated back to the eighteenth century.  However, with the expanded middle 

class, a heightened sense of freedom of enjoyment and adventure, the advent of rail travel and the 

publication of travel guides, the latter half of the nineteenth century experienced a general flood of 

summer holidaymakers ï Beatrice and Annie amongst them.  

Dollgelau, at the time of the sistersô visit, was experiencing a particularly strong boom period which 

accompanied the mining of gold which began in the 1860ôs. These workings, just a couple of miles 

from Dollgelau, continued to be in use until the late 1900ôs.  Because of its scarcity, Welsh gold is 

highly valued and has been used to make the wedding rings of all Royal weddings in Britain since 

1923.
31

 

According to a recent press release, gold mining activities are due to be re-commenced.
32

 

 

 

Entrance to the Torrent Walk, Dolgelly Sept 16
th
 1885 

(A) 

Torrent Walk runs along the Afon (River) Clywedog and 

was reportedly built as a walkway in the late 1800ôs and so 

may or may not have been formally in place at the time of 

this visit.  

The Walk was designed by Thomas Payne who became 

better known for having designed an embankment (The 

Cob) across the Glaslyn River. 
33

  

  

                                                           
31

 Morris p 264 
32

 Daily Post 4 December 2017 
33

 Snowdonia.info. The Cob is described in their 1886 Visit ς relating to the Ffestiniog Station sketch. 
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Following the 16 September 

1885 sketches, both albums 

contain a number of unfinished, 

unnamed and undated sketches 

of the mountains ï all clearly 

from an elevated height. This 

one (by Beatrice) is the most 

complete. It was also sketched 

by Annie but remained 

unfinished. 

 

The photographs below verify 

its location ï on the summit of 

the ridge of Cader Idris. The 

highest point (Penygadair 

891m) is off to the left and they would have sat sketching from the vicinity of Craig Cau.
34

  

 

Paintings of Cader Idris are recorded from numerous well-known artists ï including, understandably,  

Richard Wilson who was born 

close by.  John Varley painted 

the sunrise from the top of 

Cader Idris in 1804.
35

 

 

After days of visiting castles, 

churches and waterfalls these 

sketches mark the end of what 

we know of their movements 

during 1885.  

They were clearly not averse to 

strenuous activity even in the 

garb of the day.  

However, it is noted that (at 

the time) it would have been 

possible to hire and ride a pony 

to within two-hundred yards of 

the summit. 
36

 

 

  

                                                           
34

 Photographs from TripAdvisor LLC 
35

 Kauffman 
36

 Bishop, Peter ; Vision and Revision ; Mountain Scenery in Snowdonia 1850-1880. 2001 p41 
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Part 3 : 1886 Visit to Lleyn Peninsula and inland  

 

A small village on the Lleyn Peninsula, 

Llanstumdwy is probably best known because of 

its association with David Lloyd George. Born in 

Manchester in 1863, his father died when he was 

two and he was brought to this village to be 

brought up by his uncle. Richard Lloyd was a 

shoemaker and a Baptist Pastor. 

Davidôs boyhood in a Welsh-speaking 

community instilled the strong views he had 

relating to Welsh nationalism, religious 

Nonconformity and the plight of the working 

class.  These views were to inform his political 

career that began as the youngest member of the 

House of Commons in 1890 and ended fifty 

years later. Holding various Cabinet positions, he was largely responsible for laying down the 

foundations of the welfare state. He was Britainôs first óWelshô Prime Minister (from 1906 to 1922) 

and he guided Britain to victory in the First World 

War. He died in 1945 and is buried here in the 

village.  

Addressing the House of Commons, Churchill said:  

ñWhen the English history of the first quarter of the 

twentieth century is written it will be found that the 

greater part of our fortunes, in peace and in war, 

were shaped by this one man.ò 
37

 
38

 

Llanstumdwy Sept 14
th
 1886 (A) 

At the time of Annieôs sketching of the bridge, she would have had no knowledge of the above and 

certainly not that the newly qualified solicitor (practising out of the parlour of 

his uncleôs house in the village nearby) would become Britainôs future Prime 

Minister.  

Fast-forward forty-six years, Beatrice (aged 76) sketched this aspect of 

Gwynfryn Manor House. Built on an older house dating back to the sixteenth 

century, it was replaced in 1876 by this mock-Gothic mansion by the Tory 

MP Hugh Ellis-Nunnery who was the squire of LLanystumdwy.  

Gwynfr yn Aug.10. 1932 Llanystumdwy Criccieth (B) 

It was therefore ironic that David Lloyd George should, in his first election as 

                                                           
37 Encyclopaedia Britannica 
38 Were David Lloyd George to have been alive during this address, he would probably have 

interjected with ñBritish, not English historyò. 
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the Liberal candidate for Caernarfon, have Hugh Ellis-Nunnery as his opponent. In winning this 1890 

election, not only did he acquire a seat in the House of Commons (which heôd occupy for the next 

fifty years) but it validated what he stood for ï that political power could lie even in the cottage-bred 

middle class.
39

  

Plas Gwynfryn ceased to exist as a family home in 1928 and, when Beatrice sketched it in 1932, it 

would have been run as a retirement home for the clergy.
40

  

Sept.14
th
 1886 (A) 

With no reference to its location, it is possible (given the date) that it is in the vicinity of 

Llanystumdwy -  with a view north-eastwards towards Snowdonia.
41

  

From Festiniog Station Sept 15
th
 1886 (A) ï with 

its view down towards Tremadoc Bay 

Llan Ffestiniog village (referred to by the locals and 

hereafter as óLlanô) lies some four miles downslope 

from the old mining town of Blynau Ffestiniog.  

From the 1760ôs onwards, many of the villagers 

slogged their way up the valley from Llan to work 

on the slate quarries that grew at a rapid pace. By 

the early 1800ôs slate from these quarries was being 

shipped all over the world and, to house these 

miners and craftsmen,  the new town of Blynau 

Ffestiniog was established.  

The expansion of the slate industry arose from the 

demand to replace thatch and tiling as a roofing 

material and was largely facilitated by the actions 

of Will iam Madocks. His building, in 1811, of an 

embankment (The Cob) across the Glaslyn estuary 

was initially aimed both at reclaiming floodable 

land and creating a transport link from mid-Wales 

to the LLeyn Peninsula. This enabled the building 

                                                           
39
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40
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41
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of the harbour which, at the height of the slate trade became world-famous because of its linkages to 

various parts of Europe, America, Australia, Africa and elsewhere. 
42

  

By the 1850ôs Blynau Ffestiniog had a 

population of over 3 000. Thirty years 

later, it was one of the largest towns in 

North Wales with a population in excess 

of 11 000. Llan Ffestiniog remained a 

village with a population of less than a 

thousand.
43

  

Festiniog Station Sep.15.1886 (B) 

It is likely that Beatrice and Annie would 

have made the short trip from 

LLanystumdwy to Porthmadog, caught 

the train to Blynau Ffestiniog and then on to LLan Ffestiniog where these paintings were done. 

The above travel description takes on particular meaning when dwelling on the history of the railway 

in this area.  

To transport the slate from Blynau Ffestiniog to the new harbour at Porthmadog, a narrow gauge 

railway was constructed in 1836. The loaded carriages were sent downhill by gravity - all of 11 miles 

(18kms) ï and the empty carriages were pulled uphill by horses which had travelled downhill in a 

specially made wagon.  Even though steam locomotives were being used elsewhere, the narrowness 

of the railway and its sharply-winding nature meant that it was only in 1863 that specially-designed 

locomotives could finally replace the reliance on horses. The innovations introduced by the Ffestiniog 

Railway have been adopted by other narrow gauge railways throughout the world.
44

   

A passenger service was introduced and the line extended to Llan where the station was opened in 

1868. Because the carriages were so low, there was no need for a platform ï as noted in the painting.  

The decline of the slate industry - from the 1890ôs onwards - coincided with the great number of 

tourists to the area which continued to rise as new rail links were introduced. This culminated in the 

Ffestiniog Rail and Welsh Highland Railways current tourist attraction linking Blynauw Ffestiniog 

with Caernarfon which was finally opened in 2011. 
45

 

While the focus of events in the 19
th
 and early 20

th
 centuries lay with the growth of the slate industry, 

of Blynauw Ffestiniog and rail travel, The Llan Ffestionog station was to experience its own moment 

of importance during World War II.  

To ensure the protection of Britainôs major artworks such as those in the National Gallery and in other 

collections , they were secreted to Aberystwyth, Penrhyn Castle and to Bangor University at the 

outbreak of the war. However, with the threat of attack by the Luftwaffe, a safer and more remote site 
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was sought for their safekeeping. An abandoned underground slate mine between Llan and Blynauw 

Ffestiniog was selected and, under great secrecy, the artworks were railed to Llan station in 1941 and 

then taken by lorry up to the mine. A painting by Anthony van Dyck was so big that the road had to 

be lowered for it to be transported under a stone bridge.  The mine itself was made fully air 

conditioned and here a great many of the Nation-owned masterpieces remained for the duration of the 

war.
46  

Although the nature of the slate industry resulted in a dusty unhealthy environment, Morris stressed 

the high level of social cohesion and literacy that existed amongst the almost exclusively Welsh-

speaking community of highly-skilled craftsmen, quarrymen and miners.
47

  

While the industry left an environmental blot on the landscape resulting in Blynauw Ffestiniog and its 

surroundings being excluded from the Snowdonia National Park, the town and many of the workings 

have become an important heritage attraction.  

Pont Aberglaslyn Sept 16
th
 1886 (A) ï looking 

downstream 

Crossing over the Glaslyn River at the southern 

end of the Pass, this has been the subject of 

countless sketches and paintings by some of 

Britainôs best known watercolour artists. This 

included Paul Sandby, Francis Towne, JMW 

Turner, Cotman, Cox and John Varley..
48

   

Built in the 17
th
 century, the bridge was rebuilt 

and widened in the 1790ôs. The Bridge House was 

built in the mid 1800ôs. Before The Cob was built 

across the Glaslyn estuary, the river was tidal and 

navigable by small craft right up to the bridge. 

Immediately above the bridge, a well-known 

salmon leap existed. It appears to be no longer in 

existence when this painting was done but is 

clearly shown in the many earlier paintings and 

illustrations of the bridge when viewed from 

downstream.  

The illustrated travel guides and books produced during the late 1700ôs and early 1800ôs 

drew attention to the beauty and grandeur of Snowdonia in particular which led to the artists 

of the day flocking to this area both to view and record the scenery for themselves and also to 

fulfil the commissions offered them by their patrons and the general public.
49
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Beatrice re-visited this area forty-one yearôs later (aged 71) ï she did a rough sketch also 

looking downstream from a slightly different viewpoint from that (shown above) done by 

Annie who would have died two years before. 

To quote from Pennant
50

 : ñThe evening was so fine, that we were irresistibly tempted not to 

defer till morning our visit to Pont Aberglas Lyn, a short walk from hence.
51

 The first part is 

along the narrow vale; but in a very little time the mountains approach so close, as to leave 

only room for the furious river to roll over its stony bed; above which is a narrow road,
52

 

formed with incredible labour, impending over the water. éé  The scenery is the most 

magnificent that can be imagined.  The mountains rise to very uncommon height, and oppose 

to us nothing but a broken series of precipices, one above the other, as high as the eye can 

reach. éé The bridge terminates the pass; and consists of a single arch, flung over a deep 

chasm, from rock to rock.  Above is a considerable cataract, where the traveller at times may 

have much amusement, in observing the salmon, in great 

numbers, make their efforts to surmount the wear.ò 

On the road to Beddgelert Sep 16 1886 (B) 

Heading northwards through the Glaslyn Pass, this sketch  

has historic meaning as this would have been the original 

road before the new and current route runs along the other 

side of the river ï it then became the route of the railway from 

Dinas to Porthmadog. 

This railway was completed in 1922 ï but closed in 1937. 

The resuscitation of the route was begun in the 1990ôs ï to 

finally connect Blynauw Ffestiniog with Caernarfon in 2011. 

Their travel through the Pass to Beddgelert would presumably 

have been by stagecoach.. 

Beddgelert Sept 16
th
 1886 (A) 

To quote Pennant : ñé the village of 

Bedd Kelert, seated in a beautiful tract 

of meadows, at the junction of three 

vales é Its situation was the fittest in the 

world to inspire religious meditation, 

amidst lofty mountains, wood, and 

murmuring streams. é Bedd Kelert had 

been the most antient foundation in all 
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the country, excepting Bardsey é there being a recital of a charter for certain lands 

bestowed on it by Llewelyn the Great, who began his reign in 1194éò
53

 

In outlining the historic importance of Bedd Kelert, Pennant gives a detailed history of the 

priory which ñlay on the great road from England and West Wales into North Wales, and 

from Ireland and North Wales into England.ò He lists the allowances granted to the priory 

which, amongst land and livestock, included a certain share of the bees ï which had been 

highly valued by the ancient Britons because of their ñnectareous Meddò and their wax. 

Grave of Gelert, Beddgelert May 23. 1927 (B) 

Beatrice returned to Beddgelert forty-one years later. She 

sketched the grave before heading off through the Glaslyn Pass 

where she sketched the Aberglaslyn Bridge on the same day. 

This time, her traveling could have been by rail or even by 

motorised vehicle.  

The inscription on the stone slab of the grave reads : ñIn the 13th 

century, Llywelyn, Prince of north Wales, had a palace at 

Beddgelert. One day he went hunting without Gelert ñthe faithful 

houndò who was unaccountably absent. On Llywelynôs return, the 

truant, stained and smeared with blood, joyfully sprang to meet his 

master. The prince alarmed hastened to find his son, and saw the 

infantôs cot empty, the bedclothes and floor covered with blood. The frantic father plunged the sword 

into the houndôs side thinking it had killed his heir. The dogôs dying yell was answered by a childôs 

cry. Llywelyn searched and discovered his boy unharmed but near-by lay the body of a mighty wolf 

which Gelert had slain.  The prince, filled with remorse, is said never to have smiled again. He buried 

Gelert here. The spot is called Beddgelertò.
54

 

By all accounts, however, the above story was invented by a local hotelier so as to attract tourists to 

the area. Heôd apparently based this on a well-known legend in south Wales from whence heôd come. 

The name Gelert was supposedly based on another folk story involving a hound by that name and its 

fight with a stag.
55

 
56

 

In describing the many legends associated with the Beddgelgert area, Pennant makes no mention of 

the legend of Gelert as, clearly, the local story of the hound, prince and wolf had not yet been 

invented. 
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This view by Annie and that (below) by Beatrice were probably overlooking the Glaslyn 

River given that they were done on the 

same day as the sketch of Beddgelert - 

16
th
 September 1886. 

Snowdon and the entire mountain range 

are understandably a major focus for 

tourists, recreationalists and artists ï and 

have been for the past four centuries. 

Before that, theyôd been the home of the 

legends and the history that have fuelled 

the identity of the Welsh ónationhoodô.  

They represent the topographic and 

visual beacon of a land and its people 

that Ross refers to as coming ñto see 

themselves as é trustees of a lost Celtic 

civilization which was to become ever 

more marvellous in the imagination, 

peopled by ever more heroic heroes, 

inspired by saintlier saints, until the 

very dream of it became part of the 

whole worldôs consciousness in the 

legendary paragon of King Arthur. 

Wales was the folk-memory of 

Europe!ò
57

 

The mountainous region served as the refuge for the many Welsh rebel forces ï culminating 

in that of Owain GlyndȐr during the late fourteenth century. 

A painting by Turner of óSnowdon and Dinas Emrys from above Beddgelertô (with the Glaslyn River 

below) is of particular interest as the small hillock known as Dinas Emrys is the site of the iron-age 

fortress associated with the myth of Merlin, King Vortigern and the Welsh Red Dragon.
58

 
59

  

Is it possible that the hillock on the right side of Beatriceôs painting is Dinas Emrys? 
60
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Criccieth frm Moelwyn(?) Sept 23 1886 

(A)
61

 

Annie painted this elevated view a week 

after the Beddgelert and Snowdon paintings. 

She would have re-traced her movements 

back through the Aberglasyn Pass 

southwards.  

Although difficult to interpret the notation, it 

would appear from the layout of the area 

that this is possibly from the mountainside 

of Moelwyn Mawr. 

Overlooking the Lleyn Peninsula  and Tremadoc Bay, the position of Criccieth is marked by the 

distinctive dark promontory jutting into the Bay which is the site of the historic castle. Criccieth 

Castle was one of Edward Iôs ring of fortifications established around the coast in the thirteenth 

century. The castle had, in fact, been built by Llewelyn the Great early in the thirteenth century 

whereas Edwardôs  modifications (particularly two round towers on either side of the entrance) were 

carried out towards the end of the century. The castle was burnt down by Owain  GlyndȐrôs troops 

early in the fifteenth century ï this being the  last major Welsh rebellion against the English.
62

  

The stretch of water seems to be the Dwyrd estuary with its confluence with the Glaslyn. Directly in 

the centre of the picture, just above the water line, the building of the village of Portmeirion would 

begin some forty years after Annieôs recording of the scenery.  Resembling an Italian village, it was 

designed and built by Sir Clough Williams ïEllis. Morris refers to it as a ófloating fantasy above the 

sea.ô
63

 

While not visible in the sketch, upstream of the Glaslyn estuary is the óThe Cobô ï the embankment 

built by William Madocks early in the 1800ôs. Its role was two-fold: to stop tidal mov ement upstream 

(and thus allow for the reclamation of the land) and to provide the platform for the rail connection 

from mid-Wales to the Lleyn Peninsula and northwards. This engineering feat not only gave impetus 

to the slate industry via the connection to Blynauw FFestiniog but also facilitated the shipment of 

slate to Europe, America and Australia via the newly created harbour. 
64

 

Madocks extended the above vision to include the establishment of two settlements, Tremadog (which 

failed to meet his expectations of establishing a new route from England across Wales to capitalise on 

the Irish ótravelô market) and Porthmadog which would have met all his expectations. The rapid 

growth of Porthmadog because of the slate industry, ship building and the trade accompanying the 

return of otherwise empty ships, came to an end with the collapse of the slate industry after WW I. 

Since then, Porthmadog has functioned as an important tourist destination.
65

  

The idea of creating an embankment across the Glaslyn estuary was first seriously formulated almost 

two hundred years before Madocks saw it through.  Sir John Wynn conceived of this idea in 1625 -  
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the  purpose being not only to reclaim the land for farming activities, but also to ensure greater safety 

of movement across the river upstream of the embankment. 

Sir John sought the assistance of Sir Hugh Myddleton, referring to reclamation work that he 

(Myddleton) had undertaken on the Isle of Wight. Sir Hughôs reply was given a day later ïin which he 

regretted that he could not be of assistance because of his age, his current business commitments (in 

which he refers to the river at London), the likely scarcity of building material, the huge cost that 

would be involved and that he would not want to leave his wife in a strange place.
66

 

Pennant includes both Sir Johnôs letter and Sir Hughôs reply which stand as wonderful examples of 

the written language of the time (at least among their level of English society), of the politeness 

expressed and, of course, the promptness shown in replying. 

Given that Pennantôs volume was first published in 1781, it is of interest to read (in the 1810 re- 

publication ï over a hundred years later) the Editorôs note in which he includes a lengthy update to the 

effect that óThis bold design is now attempting to be carried into effect by William Madocks esq éô  
67

 

Treflys (Trevlys) Church 1886 (A)
68

 

The Church of St Michael lies two miles from Criccieth. 

Built in the 14
th
 century, it fell into disrepair and was 

extensively renovated in 1889.
69

 

The enlargement below is inserted simply to indicate the 

quality of Annieôs penwork. 
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Part 4 : Anglesey (Ynys Môn or Isle of Môn)  

1887, 1897, 1899, 1900/1  
 

Because of its generally low-lying topography, its geology (soil fertility, usable stone and mineral 

deposits), its climate (tempered by the Gulf Stream) and particularly its location, Anglesey has 

repeatedly borne the brunt of historic invasions.  

Following the period of prehistoric habitation (of which there is still much evidence in the form of 

burial chambers and standing stones), the island had ï by 100 BC ï been colonised by the Celts 

(Britons) and had become the centre of the Druid religion. The devastating invasion by the Romans in 

AD 61 led to their occupation of the island over the next four centuries ï the 4
th
 century fort at 

Holyhead on Holy Island being the most substantial extant evidence of their presence. Once the 

Romans left in the 5
th
 century, the island experienced a series of invasions by the Irish, followed by 

the Vikings, then the Saxons and the Normans until, finally, the English invasion by Edward I in the 

13
th
 century.  

With the rise of Christianity during the 6
th
 century, monasteries became established in remote areas ï 

the most noted of these being those of St Cybi on Holy Island and St Seiriol at Penmon. 

While contact with Ireland had existed for centuries, it increased dramatically with the construction of 

the harbour at Holyhead and the completion of the road and rail connections with London. The A5 

road link (under the direction of Thomas Telford) was put into effect  by the construction  of the 

Stanley Embankment over the channel between Anglesey and Holy Island in 1823 and the suspension 

bridge over the Menai Strait 

in 1826 ï both designed by 

Telford. The rail link was 

established in 1849 with the 

construction of Robert 

Stephensonôs tubular bridge 

over the Menai Strait.
70

 

Almost the whole of 

Angleseyôs coastline carries 

the designated of Area of 

Outstanding Natural 

Beauty.  

The sisters appeared to 

have first visited Anglesey 

together in 1887 and then 

again in 1897, 1899, 1900 

and 1901.  

Beatrice spent time on the 

island in 1921.  
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Beaumaris (Biwmares) and Penmon  1887 

Beaumaris  occupies a strategic position at the opening of the Menai Strait. It was the site of a Viking 

settlement and, much later, one of the sites on which Edward I used in making up his ring of castles 

following his defeat of Llewelyn the Great in 1282. 
71  

The sisters visited the Beaumaris and 

Penmon area in September 1887 and, thirty-

four years later, Beatrice visited the Red 

Wharf Bay area.  

The painting alongside and that of the pier 

were by Beatrice. This view is from the pier.  

The pier was built in 1872.  Its purpose was 

to attract the steamship trade that passed 

through the Menai Strait.
72

 

 

Annie is undoubtedly the figure in the 

foreground. She would have been twenty-

six years old. 

 

 

The painting below was by Annie. The 

view across the water (Conwy Bay) is 

towards the Snowdonia Mountains.  

 

 

óBuilt between the end of the 13
th
 and 

beginning of the 14
th
 centuries, Beaumaris 

Castle is a symphony in stone ï widely 

recognised as the pinnacle of British medieval 

castle building. Its perfect symmetry, moats 

and concentric walls are still awe-inspiring, 

more than 700 years after it was built. And it 

wasnôt even finished; this final flourish of 

Edward Iôs ring of stone, built to control and 

humiliate the conquered native Welsh, broke the bank as well as the proud spirit of the Celtsô
73
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Given the splendour of the castle, it is interesting that the only 

records both sister left are close-up details of the walling and 

openings. The adjacent detail was by Beatrice. 

Also of note, is that Annieôs record of her visit to the 14
th
 century 

Church of St Mary and St Nicholas should be a detailed sketch of 

the interior and one of a lion lying at the feet of a reclining 

sculptural figureôs tomb.
74 

 

The church contains the tomb of Princess Joan of Wales and represents a large 

slice of the history of Wales through the centuries. 

Joan was the daughter of King John, king of England during the late 12th 

century. Reflecting the period of relative stability between England and 

Wales, Joan was, at a very young age, married to Llywelyn the Great 

(Llywelyn ap Iorwerth) - then recognised as the unofficial Prince of Wales.  

When Joan died, Llywelyn had her buried in a Franciscan Friary he founded 

in Llanfaes, just north of Beaumaris and which he could see across the Menai Strait from his palace in 

Abergwyngregyn. However, when he died three years later (in 1240), Llywelyn wasnôt buried with 

his wife, but at Aberconwy Abbey, to which he had retired during the last few years of his life.
75

  

With the defeat of Llywelynôs grandson (Llywelyn the Last
76

) by King Edward I in 1282 almost a 

century of relative peace between Wales and England came to an end ï as did the Gwynned 

stronghold at Abergwyngregyn that was destroyed by Edwardôs troops. 

Both the castle and the church were then built.  The church was built to service the needs of the new 

(English) settlers to Beaumaris.  The original inhabitants were resettled to the new settlement of 

Newborough on the other side of Anglesey.  

The history of Joanôs tomb continues almost exactly three centuries later when the LLanfaes Friary 

was destroyed in 1537 by Henry VIIIôs clergymen as part of the dissolution of the monasteries. 

Almost another three centuries would then pass before the empty tomb would find a new home in the 

church ï after having been used by horses as a water trough.  

In commemoration of Joanôs life and in acknowledgement of the indignity suffered, a plaque was put 

up in the church in 1808 by Viscount Thomas James Warren-Bulkeley. 
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Also in the church, lies the alabaster tomb of William Bulkeley, who died circa 1490 and his wife 

Elin, the daughter of Gwilym ap Gruffydd of Penrhyn. William Bulkeley had been the deputy 

constable of the castle.  Gwilym ap Gruffydd  had, for a brief period supported Owain GlendȐrôs 

rebellion in the 15
th
 century but had then turned against him and sided with the English. In 

consequence heôd been granted the rights to huge tracts of land in Anglesey.
77

 

The only connection to all the above that was recorded by Annie, is the sketch of the lion lying at the 

feet of William Bulkeleyôs figure.  

During their stay at Beaumaris, they visited the Penmon promontory, just a few miles north-east of 

Beaumaris ï they would possibly have walked there ï passing Llanfaes on the way.  

The sketch on the left is by Beatrice, the one on the right by Annie which includes the notation 

óCottage at Penmon where we had teaô. 

 

Looking across Conwy Bay, the Snowdonia Mountains appear as a faint outline in Annieôs sketch 

and, by means of an even fainter line, sheôs indicated the location of Aber Falls. The Falls lie close by 

Abergwyngregyn where the Llywelyn stronghold had existed and it is conceivable that Annie could 

have inserted its location specifically in response to the historic reason for Joanôs burial at Laenfaes.
78

 

The above building was built in the 1850ôs to house the Pilots serving the nearby Menai Lighthouse. 

It still operates as a tearoom/restaurant ï óThe Pilot House Caf® ï and the sistersô visit pre-empted 

what is currently a popular walk from Beaumaris.
79

 

Sited on the promontory is a monastery built in the 6th century by St. Seriol. It was destroyed by the 

Vikings in 10
th
 century but re-built in the 12

th
 century. The monastery later became an Augustinian 

Priory and then finally a private estate homestead (owned by the Bulkeley family) in the 16
th
 

century.
80
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 Walesdirectory.co.uk ς this source was used for the factual information relating to the tombs.  
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 What is, perhaps, intriguing is that Annie noted the location of the Falls four years before she would be 
visiting the area and sketching the Falls in 1891. Beatrice, however, had already visited Aber in 1893 and one 
could almost picture her pointing this out to Annie as they talked about the historic relevance of the place.   
79

 Dorothy Hamilton : .Ŝǎǘ ¢Ŝŀ {ƘƻǇ ²ŀƭƪǎΩ нллл.   
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 Turton, Dave ς as found in the Ken Davies website www.penmon.org - which is an extremely informative 
blog. 
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These sketches of boats were done by both sisters ï many of them would, most likely, have been 

sketched during their stay in Beaumaris which was, and still is, a boating and yachting centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Other than those in the bottom row that were sketched by Annie, 

all these were sketched by Beatrice.  
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Red Wharf Bay (Traeth Coch)  1921 

Lying just north of Penmon Point, Red Wharf Bay has shared in much of the rich history of Wales 

and, more particularly, of Anglesey. The Welsh name means óred beachô and supposedly arises from a 

bloody Viking battle that took place in the 12
th
 century. 

The reference to ówharfô reflects the importance of the bay as an important port from the 15
th
 to the 

18
th
 century before the advent of steamships which would have been able to be accommodated 

because of the shallow water and very wide tidal range. 
81

  

Beatrice visited Red Wharf Bay and the adjoining Benllech 

area in July/August 1921. Between her last visit to the general 

area in 1887 and this visit a major Viking ótreasureô was 

discovered. 

A hoard of five silver arm-rings was discovered between 

about 1887 and 1894 near the eastern tip of Red Wharf Bay. 

They date from the first phase of Viking contact with Wales. 

Anglesey during the late ninth and early tenth century was 

the economic and political homeland of the kingdom of 

Gwynedd. The island became a particular target for 

seaborne raids from 855. One notable episode started with 

the landing of Viking leader Ingimund and his followers, who 

had been expelled as 'foreigners' from Dublin about 902/3. 

They attempted to establish a base on Anglesey, but were 

eventually expelled after defeat in battle. The Red Wharf Bay 

hoard was probably deposited within a decade of Ingimund's 

attempt to colonize Anglesey.
82

  

The view in the top sketch is of Red Wharf Bay (at high 

tide) looking northwards. The one below it is of 

Benllech Sands looking southwards towards Penmon 

Point. The one alongside is of the Ship Inn which is still 

very much in place with the only alteration being a 

relatively small extension of the building.  

The sketch below (left) is of Plas Thelwel (ófrom my bedroomô), while the other sketch (dated 

October) formed part of this group but could have been sketched elsewhere.  
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 The Ship Inn website (shipinnredwharfbay.co.uk) 
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Bull Bay (Porth Llechog meaning óSheltered Bayô) 1899 and 1900 

On the northern coastline of Anglesey, the Bull Bay 

area is known for its remoteness and its scenic beauty. 

Its rocky cliffs are home to a wide range of birdlife. 

Annie visited the area in September 1899. Her sketch 

óView from my roomô is alongside. This was after she 

and Beatrice had spent a portion of June of that year 

on the western portion of Anglesey.
83

 

All the other illustrations on this page were by 

Beatrice, recording her visit in May of 1900. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The painting above óTaking a ñsnapò of Peregrineôs nestô 

suggests that they (the two figures) had a camera. 

The flowers below, right, are scillas. 
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 This forms the next section of this, their time on Anglesey. Again, attention needs to be drawn to the 
limitations attached to trying to follow their lives purely from the sketches recorded. Where, for example, was 
Annie between June and September and what was she then doing between September 1899 and October 1900 
when she again visited Anglesey with Beatrice? 
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South-West Coast : Rhosneigr, LLangwyfan and LLanddwyn 1887, 1900 

&1901 

The entire coastline immediately southwards of the village of 

Rhosneigr up to the Menai Strait is designated an AONB.  

Llangwyfan is a tiny hamlet lying south of the village of 

Rhosneigr. Nearby, sited on the tiny tidal island of Cribinau is St 

Cwyfanôs Church. The original structure dates back to the 12
th
 

century with renovations having taken place in the 14
th
, 16

th
 and 

19
th
 centuries ï when a sea wall was constructed around it. Being 

inaccessible at high tide, a causeway was built ï with the 

remains being visible in the two sketches below. 

In the 18
th
 century, the parishioners lodged a formal protest with 

the ecclesiastical court against the appointment of a new parish 

priest who could only speak English. There clearly was a 

problem as only five of the 500 parishioners could understand 

English. While the court ruled that he should not have been 

appointed, it was not able to remove him and so allowed him to 

stay ï he nevertheless died later that year.
84

  

Beatrice and Annie  sketched the church in October 1897 -  the bottom one being Annieôs. The 

lettering was copied from a stone slab 

lying near the church ï it reads óHere 

ly Ye Body of T.G.who dyed Jan ye 23 

AN 1730ô. The Snowdonia Mountains 

and the Lleyn Peninsula are in the 

distance.  

The sisters returned to the Rhosneigr 

area three years later.  

Beatriceôs sketch (alongside) is 

viewed northwards up the coastline 

towards Holy Island. Her note reads 

óCraig y Don Oct 1.1900 Rhos Neigr, 

Rhos Colyn & Holyhead Mountain in 

distance.ô 

 

Annieôs sketch reads óOur house Ty 

Croes looking towards Rhos Neigr.ô 

The house is indicated with a cross. 

 

 

These two sketches and the two over the page provide a particularly fine record of the coastline 

towards both the north and south. 
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 Kovach, Warren. Anglesey ς Ψрл .ǳƛƭŘƛƴƎǎΩ blog. 



32 
 

 

Annieôs sketch above, reads óTy Crois looking towards 

Snowdonô. Again, a tiny cross is inserted over the house on the right. Beatriceôs sketch on the right 

reads óCraig y Don Oct 8 1900ô.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These two sketches were done at Rhosneigr in 

September/October 1900. Annieôs sketch above, 

Beatriceôs alongside. What is interesting is that the 

perspective adopted in the painting (below) by Beatrice is 

that of Annieôs sketch rather than that of her own.
85
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 As mentioned in the Introduction, an online record was found of the painting of this scene by Beatrice having 
been sold for £90 but the date of the sale is not known.   
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Almost another year passes before 

they again visit the area ï this 

time in May 1901. The only 

records of this visit are these four 

sketches. 

The top two are of an uninhabited 

house in the vicinity of 

LLangwyfan.  

Beatriceôs sketch is alongside and 

Annieôs below it - the notation 

being óPainted with a thorn 

(brush forgotten)ô 

 

The bottom two sketches are of 

the ruined church of St Dwynwen.  

Located on Llanddwyn Island 

which is really a small peninsula, 

separated from the mainland only 

at the highest of tides.  

The church is named after St 

Dwynwen who retreated to the 

island in the early 5
th
 century after 

an unhappy love affair. She 

became known as the patron saint of lovers and pilgrimages were made to her holy well on the island. 

The pilgirmages became so popular that the offerings left by them were sufficient to build a 

substantial chapel on the site of the original church during the 16
th
 century.

86
  

 

Beatriceôs sketch is on the left, Annieôs on the right ï her notation reads óRuins of St Dwynwenôs (461) 

Church at Llanddwyn 4 miles walk across sandhill from Newborough May 1901.ô  
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Part  5 : Visits to Holy Island 1889-1898 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Holy Island is so-named because of the high density of prehistoric relics of worship and burial 

together with those of Early Christians. Its historic name being Holyhead which has been used since at 

least the 14
th
 century and became the name of the town ï Holyhead (Caergybi).

87
 

Separated from Anglesey by a narrow channel which is fordable at low tide, its history of occupation 

is hardly seperable from that of Anglesey. However, its proximity to Ireland has ensured that, from 

the invasions by the Irish Picts in the 5
th
 century followed by the centuries-later establishment of a 

regular ferry connection with Dublin, a close connection has existed between them. 

Holy Island displays a high degree of complexity in terms of its geology, the nature of its rocky 

coastline (punctured by its many small bays) and its peopled history. 

With the exclusion of the more settled areas of Holyhead, Trearddur and Rhoscolyn, almost the whole 

area is identified as an area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  

The qualities of the western and south-western coastal strip in particular are perceived as being ó those 

of wildness and remoteness ï a feeling of being at the mercy of the elements and a sense of danger 

arising from the turbulent seas é
88

 

The sistersô visits to Holy Island began in 1889, to be followed by annual visits for the next four years 

and then again in 1897 and 1898. After the first visit by Beatrice in 1889, the sisters seemed to have  

visited independently over the next three years except for one record of them sketching the cottage, 

Castell Colyn on the 15
th
 of September 1893. The last visits were in 1897 and 1898.

89
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 Davidson, A.  Towyn y Capel Report 440 , Gwynned Archaeological Trust Feb 2002 
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 Marine Character Areas MCA9 Holy Island West and Penrhos Bay. Natural Resources Wales. 
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 Because the sketches are mixed up both in the albums and in the dates, they have been grouped according to 
location. 
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Towyn y Capel /Trearddur /
90

 

Towyn y Capel is the site of a former chapel 

(Capel St Ffraid) and cemetery situated 

adjacent to the beach at Trearddur Bay. The 

Chapel was associated with St Ffraid (St 

Bride/Brigid) who is said to have arrived here 

from Kildare in Ireland around 500AD and 

established a church on the site.
91

  

Because of erosion, all that remains of it is a 

sand hill seperated from the beach by a 

promenade. The site is indicated as a chapel 

on a map dated 1578 and its ruins were still in 

place when Thomas Pennant visited the site in 

1781 but was finally destroyed in a storm in 

1913. 
92

 

In describing his visit to Towyn y Capel, 

Pennant writes ña low sandy common, 

bounded on one side by rocks, over which in 

high winds the sea breaks in a most aweful 

and stupendous manner éò
93 

Beatrice visited óTowynô in September of 

1889.  

The middle sketch is of her niece, Helen, and 

and her nephews Algy and Francis. These 

being the children of her sister, Magdalene, 

who had married the Rev Charles Codrington 

Nation. They were presumably here on holiday. 

While the Snowdonia Range can faintly be seen in the background of the above sketch of Trearddur 

Bay, it is in fact separated by the waters of Caernarfon Bay.  

Trearddur  in the 1880ôs would have provided a vastly different feel to that of the present day. The 

attraction of the area as a holiday resort has led to considerable change over the years due to the 

extensive development of holiday accommodation.
94

  

While the placidness of the bay in these sketches is still currently experienced, the stormy conditions 

described by Pennant are likely to become even more exaggerated with the predicted effects of sea 

level rise.  
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In their 1897 visit to Holy Island, they  both recorded the high tide ófrom Bryn Isultô. The name 

óIsalltô is fairly common along this stretch of the coastline. Apart from it being the name of holiday 

accomodation in the vicinity of Trearddur Bay, it is also the name of the linking road leading down to 

the various bays in the area ï including Porth y Post.  

While Pennantôs description of the waves refers specifically 

to Trearddur Bay, it would apply equally as well to many 

sites along this stretch of the coastline. 

Given the configuration of the landscape in these sketches 

and the date (October 1897), it is likely that they refer to 

Porth y Post (which is recorded in the paintings below) rather 

than at Trearddur Bay.  

Beatriceôs is the one above, and Annieôs the one below. Not 

discernable in this copy is Annieôs reference to óour gateô 

with a tiny cross at the opening. 

 

Porth y Post  

Lying nearby Tearddur Bay ï north-westwards along the coast ï Porth y Post shares the same 

generally rocky coastline.  

These two paintings in the vicinity 

of Porth y Post were done by 

Beatrice ï also in September 1889.
95

   

Annie spent almost all of September 

1892 at Porth y Post. A  number of 

her paintings and sketches 

(including pen and ink) are shown 

on the following page. 

There is no pictorial evidence to 

indicate where Beatrice was in 1892 

ï other than still living in Chester. 

A rough sketch of hers indicates 

that she visited Porth y Post again 

in 1893. 
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 The dates of these and those of Towyn indicate a movement between the two sites over a two-week period. 
IŜǊ Ǿƛǎƛǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ ŀǊŜŀ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ΨƘƛƎƘ ǘƛŘŜΩ ǎƪŜǘŎƘ ōŜƛƴƎ ŜƛƎƘǘ ȅŜŀǊǎΩ ƭŀǘŜǊ ς 1897.   
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The sketches above (house with flag) were by Annie in 

1892 and the painted one of the same house  

(alongside) was by Beatrice in Oct 1897.  The sketch 

below is of the road to Porth y Post. 

 

 

There is no notation 

on the bottom right 

sketch but, given its 

grouping with the 

other sketches, it is 

assumed to probably 

be in the same 

vicinity. 
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 Rhoscolyn 

South-east from Trearddu lies the small village of Rhoscolyn. The area is known for its natural beauty 

ï particularly the rugged coastline with the small enclosed Borthwen Bay. 

St Gwenfaen, an early Christian saint, was believed to have founded the original church here in the 6
th
 

century. A new church was built on the old foundations of this church in the 19
th
 century. St 

Gwenfaenôs well (dating from the same time as the original church) is located on the clifftop and is 

one of the best preserved wells of that period.  The coastal footpath follows the ancient route running 

south- eastward from South Stack towards 

Menai Strait and onwards into the 

mainland.
96

 

Beatrice and Annie visited here in 

September 1893. Based on the two 

sketches of the cottage below, this is the 

only record of them being together on 

Holy Island.  

It is presumed that Castell Colyn is the 

name of the cottage. Annieôs sketch is the 

one on the left, Beatriceôs on the right. 

The two seascapes were done by Annie. 

Although they are not notated, their 

location in the album in relation to the 

cottage suggests that they are also in the 

vicinity of Rhoscolyn. 

The upper one is viewed north-westward 

looking towards Holyhead Mountain and 

South Stack island. The lower one is 

viewed southwards towards the 

Snowdonia Mountains. 
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 Griffiths, Tony & Rosie blog (Owners of y Stabl cottage, Rhoscolyn) 


